RECEIVED

12-16-2013

STATE OF WISCONSIN

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS COURT OF APPEAL OF WISCONSIN

DISTRICT III

Case No. 2013AP558-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Appellant-Cross-Respondent,

v.

JOEL M. HURLEY,

Defendant-Respondent-Cross-Appellant.

APPEAL FROM AN ORDER VACATING A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION AND GRANTING A NEW TRIAL, AND CROSS-APPEAL FROM AN ORDER DENYING OTHER CLAIMS FOR POSTCONVICTION RELIEF, ENTERED IN THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR MARINETTE COUNTY, THE HONORABLE DAVID G. MIRON, PRESIDING

COMBINED BRIEF OF APPELLANT AND CROSS-RESPONDENT

J.B. VAN HOLLEN **Attorney General**

JACOB J. WITTWER **Assistant Attorney General** State Bar #1041288

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Statements of the Case provided by the State and Hurley in the briefs on the State's appeal are adequate to frame the issues raised in Hurley's cross-appeal. Relevant facts are provided as necessary in the Argument below.

ARGUMENT

I. THE AMENDED COMPLAINT PROVIDED ADEQUATE NOTICE TO SATISFY DUE PROCESS REQUIREMENTS.

A. Introduction.

Hurley argues that the circuit court erred in rejecting his claims of ineffective assistance for failing to seek dismissal of the amended complaint on notice grounds, and of plain error for the complaint's deficiencies (Hurley's br. at 17-22). Hurley maintains that

the charging documents² violated his due process rights to notice and to prepare a defense by alleging an unconstitutionally broad five-year charging period in which, he asserts, the complaint alleged only five incidents of assault.

The court properly rejected Hurley's ineffective assistance and plain error claims because the five-year charging period meets the constitutional test for notice in child sexual assault cases established in *State v. Fawcett*, 145 Wis. 2d 244, 253, 426 N.W.2d 91 (Ct. App. 1988). The State submits that the amended complaint, in fact, alleged a total of at least 26 incidents of assault during the five-year period, and provided sufficient notice under *Fawcett*. Counsel was not ineffective for failing to bring a notice claim that would have been rejected by the circuit court, *State v. Wheat*, 2002 WI App 153, ¶ 14, 256 Wis. 2d 270, 647 N.W.2d 441, and there is no plain error in a complaint that meets *Fawcett*'s test for notice.

B. Notice challenges to a complaint alleging sexual assault of a child.

The sufficiency of a pleading is a question of law that an appellate court reviews independently on appeal. *Fawcett*, 145 Wis. 2d at 250. Whether a deprivation of a constitutional right has occurred is a question of constitutional fact that also is independently reviewed. *Id.* Whether a period of time alleged in a complaint and information is too expansive to allow the defendant to prepare an adequate defense is an issue of constitutional fact which is reviewed independently of the trial court's determination. *Id.* at 249.

To determine whether a complaint is sufficient, a court considers "whether the accusation is such that the

² This brief discusses the amended complaint. The information filed in this case stated only the charged offense, and did not include the facts of the alleged crime provided in the amended complaint.

defendant [can] determine whether it states an offense to which he [is able to] plead and prepare a defense and whether conviction or acquittal is a bar to another prosecution for the same offense." *Holesome v. State*, 40 Wis. 2d 95, 102, 161 N.W.2d 283 (1968) (footnote omitted). In *Fawcett*, the court identified seven factors that are helpful in evaluating the complaint and determining whether the *Holesome* test is satisfied:

- 1) the age and intelligence of the victim and other witnesses;
 - 2) the surrounding circumstances;
- 3) the nature of the offense, including whether it is likely to occur at a specific time or is likely to have been discovered immediately;
- 4) the length of the alleged period of time in relation to the number of individual criminal acts alleged;
- 5) the passage of time between the alleged period for the crime and the defendant's arrest;
- 6) the duration between the date of the indictment and the alleged offense; and
- 7) the ability of the victim or complaining witness to particularize the date and time of the alleged transaction or offense.

Fawcett, 145 Wis. 2d at 253.

When the date of the commission of the crime is not a material element of the offense charged, it need not be precisely alleged. *Id.* at 250. Time is not of the essence in sexual assault cases. *Id.*

The charge in Hurley's case was one of repeated acts of sexual assault of the same child (4:1; CR-Ap. 101). The court in *Fawcett* explained the inherent difficulties of prosecuting sexual assaults of children.

Sexual abuse and sexual assaults of children are difficult crimes to detect and prosecute. Often there are no witnesses except the victim. The child may have been assaulted by a trusted relative or friend and not know who to turn to for assistance and consolation. The child may have been threatened and told not to tell anyone. Even absent a threat, the child might harbor a natural reluctance to reveal information regarding the assault. circumstances many times serve to deter a child from coming forth immediately. As a result, exactness as to the events fades in memory.

Fawcett, 145 Wis. 2d at 249 (citation omitted).

The court observed that "[c]hild molestation often encompasses a period of time and a pattern of conduct," and that "[a]s a result, a singular event or date is not likely to stand out in the child's mind." *Id.* at 254. Moreover, the court observed, "child molestation is not an offense which lends itself to immediate discovery. Revelation usually depends upon the ultimate willingness of the child to come forward." *Id.*

The court held in *Fawcett* that in cases involving a child victim, "a more flexible application of notice requirements is required and permitted." *Id.* "The vagaries of a child's memory more properly go to the credibility of the witness and the weight of the testimony," the court held, "rather than to the legality of the prosecution in the first instance." *Id.* at 254. "Such circumstances ought not prevent the prosecution of one alleged to have committed the act." *Id.*

After *Fawcett*, the legislature created the offense of repeated sexual assault of the same child, Wis. Stat. § 948.025. *See* 1993 Wis. Act 227, § 30. "Wisconsin Stat. § 948.025 was enacted to address the problem that often arises in cases where a child is the victim of a pattern of sexual abuse and assault but is unable to provide the specifics of an individual event of sexual assault." *State v. Nommensen*, 2007 WI App 224, ¶ 15, 305 Wis. 2d 695, 741 N.W.2d 481.

C. The amended complaint provided sufficient notice.

Hurley's notice argument rests on his assertion that the complaint alleges only five criminal acts during the five-year period alleged in the complaint, and on the fact that Hurley was not charged until five to six years after the end of the alleged period (Hurley's br. at 19). In doing so, Hurley relies exclusively on *State v. R.A.R.*, 148 Wis. 2d 408, 435 N.W.2d 315 (Ct. App. 1988). Application of the *Fawcett* factors shows that the complaint provided Hurley with adequate notice to satisfy due process requirements, and *R.A.R.* is distinguishable on its facts.

1. The allegations in the amended complaint.

The amended complaint alleged that, between 2000 and 2005, Hurley had engaged in repeated acts of sexual assault of the same child, contrary to Wis. Stat. § 948.025, by committing three or more violations of first-degree or second-degree sexual assault of a child, contrary to Wis. Stat. § 948.02(1) and (2) (4:1; CR-Ap. 101).

The probable cause section of the amended complaint alleges that a Marinette County Sheriff's Department detective met with Julie Hurley, M.C.N.'s mother (4:1; CR-Ap. 101). Julie told the detective that M.C.N. had disclosed to her that M.C.N had been abused by her ex-stepfather, Joel Hurley (4:1-2; CR-Ap. 101-02). Julie reported that M.C.N. had said that Hurley "would take her clothing off on a regular basis to weigh her," and "did on various occasions get into M.C.N.'s bed at night and inserted his fingers into her vagina" (4:2; CR-Ap. 102).

The detective met with M.C.N., who stated that, shortly after Hurley married her mother when M.C.N. was 6, Hurley "played a type of game with her" in which he "would chase her around the house when her mother was gone and took her clothing off after he caught her" (4:2; CR-Ap. 102). Thereafter, Hurley started coming into her

bedroom at night, and "would get into bed with her and place his hand into her pajama bottoms and put his fingers inside her vagina" (*id.*). "On these occasions, [Hurley] would also try to get her to touch him, which M.C.N. stated she did during one of these encounters" (*id.*).

M.C.N. also said that "after getting home from school, [Hurley] would have her take her clothing off and would put her on his shoulders to take her into the bathroom" to be weighed on the scale (*id.*). "These incidents occurred on a very frequent basis, M.C.N. thought a couple of times per week" (*id.*).

M.C.N. "estimated that between the ages of approximately 6 to 11, [Hurley] had weighed her naked in excess of 20 times, and placed his fingers inside of her vagina approximately 5 times" (*id.*).

2. Application of the *Fawcett* factors.

Hurley acknowledges that the State could not have ascertained a more definite period for the offense with diligent efforts (Hurley's br. at 19). Hurley then asserts that *Fawcett* factors one through three do not apply to the analysis of his claim, citing *R.A.R.*, 148 Wis. 2d at 411 ("As we noted in *Fawcett*, the first three factors apply [only] when the defendant claims that the state could have obtained a more definite date through diligent efforts. [*Fawcett*, 145 Wis. 2d] at 251 n.2."). For purposes of this review, the State does not dispute this assertion, and turns to the remaining factors.³

However, the State questions whether footnote 2 in *Fawcett* actually holds that factors one through three should be skipped in this circumstance. Footnote 2 identifies different types of notice challenges, then details the approach taken in *People v. Morris*, 461 N.E.2d 1256, 1259-60 (N.Y. 1984), when the defendant asserts that the State could have ascertained a more definite charging period. It also notes that a New Jersey court *In re K.A.W.*, 515 A.2d 1217 (N.J. 1986), adopted a modified version of *Morris. Fawcett*, 145 Wis. 2d at 251 n.2. The footnote appears to be essentially descriptive. *Id.* It does not expressly endorse skipping factors one

3. Factor four: Length of the charging period in relation to the number of criminal acts alleged—the amended complaint alleged at least 26 criminal acts, not five.

Hurley asserts that the amended complaint alleged only five separate criminal acts over the five-year period alleged, and that this factor weighs heavily in favor of the conclusion that the complaint failed to give him adequate notice (Hurley's br. at 19). The five acts Hurley recognizes in the complaint stem from allegations that Hurley "would get into bed with [M.C.N.] and place his hand into her pajama bottoms and put his fingers inside her vagina" (4:2; CR-Ap. 102). The State disputes Hurley's assertion that the complaint alleges only five criminal acts.

First, the State counts *six* criminal acts, not five, stemming from Hurley's contact with M.C.N. in her bed. In addition to committing five violations of Wis. Stat. § 948.02(1)(b) by the alleged acts of digital penetration, the complaint alleges Hurley also committed a separate violation of Wis. Stat. § 948.02(1)(e) by getting M.C.N. to touch him on one occasion (4:2; CR-Ap. 102).

through three when the defendant does not allege that the State could have discovered a more definite date. *Id.* In fact, the defendant's claim in *Fawcett* did not include a more-definite-date allegation, and yet the *Fawcett* court in its analysis did not expressly limit its analysis to factors four through seven. *Id.* at 253-54. (listing all seven factors, then introducing its analysis by stating, "[I]ooking to the factors under the reasonableness test. . . "). Moreover, in at least one case since *R.A.R.*, this court *has* addressed the first three factors when the defendant did not assert that the State could have come up with a more definite period for the offense. *See State v. Miller*, 2002 WI App 197, ¶¶ 27-31, 257 Wis. 2d 124, 650 N.W.2d 850. Nonetheless, in light of *R.A.R.*, the State elects not to challenge in this court Hurley's assertion that the first three factors do not apply in this case. *See Cook v. Cook*, 208 Wis. 2d 166, 185-87, 560 N.W.2d 246 (1997).

Moreover, as developed below, the State submits that the complaint also alleged that Hurley committed at least 20 additional criminal acts during the period by putting M.C.N. naked on his shoulders as a part of a "weighing" game, for a total of at least 26 alleged assaults. Accordingly, the length of the alleged period of time was not unreasonable in relation to the number of criminal acts alleged.

Hurley was charged in the complaint with one count of Class B felony repeated sexual assault of a child contrary to Wis. Stat. § 948.025. This statute provides: "Whoever commits 3 or more violations under s. 948.02(1) or (2) within a specified period of time involving the same child is guilty of (d) A Class B felony if at least three of the violations were violations of s. 948.02(1)." Wis. Stat. § 948.025(1)(d). Wisconsin Stat. § 948.02(1), first degree sexual assault of a child, provides, as relevant:

(b) Whoever has sexual intercourse with a person who has not attained the age of 12 years is guilty of a Class B felony.

. . . .

(e) Whoever has sexual contact with a person who has not attained the age of 13 years is guilty of a Class B felony.

"Sexual contact," as defined in Chapter 948, includes "[i]ntentional touching by the defendant . . . by the use of *any* body part or object, of the complainant's intimate parts," Wis. Stat. § 948.01(5)(a)1. (emphasis added), "if that intentional touching is either for the purpose of sexually degrading or sexually humiliating the complainant or sexually arousing or gratifying the defendant." Wis. Stat. § 948.01(5)(a). "Intimate parts," as used in Chapter 948, includes "the breast, buttock, anus, groin, scrotum, penis, vagina or pubic mound of a human being." Wis. Stat. § 939.22(19).

As noted, the probable cause section of the complaint alleges that Hurley would "weigh' [M.C.N.] naked after she would arrive home from school" (4:2; CR-Ap. 102). "After getting home from school, [Hurley] would have [M.C.N.] take her clothing off and would put her on his shoulders and take her to the bathroom" and put her on the scale (*id.*). "M.C.N. estimated that between the ages of approximately 6 to 11, [Hurley] had weighed her naked in excess of 20 times" (*id.*).

This part of the complaint sufficiently alleges an additional 20 criminal acts of sexual contact with M.C.N. within the meaning of the relevant statutes. Hurley was alleged to have placed M.C.N. naked on his shoulders after having her take off her clothes, thereby putting "any" part of his body in contact with one or more of M.C.N.'s naked "intimate parts," *i.e.*, her "buttock[s], anus, groin ... vagina" and/or her "public mound" Wis. Stat. §§ 939.22(19), 948.01(5)(a)1. These allegations were sufficient to put Hurley on notice to defend against these incidents of sexual contact with person under the age of 13, in addition to those alleged incidents of sexual intercourse (finger-to-vagina) with a person under the age of twelve.

While the amended complaint did not explicitly allege that Hurley had contact with M.C.N.'s intimate parts, it would have been a near physical impossibility for him *not* to have touched one or more of the child's intimate parts with his shoulders and neck while M.C.N. was riding on his shoulders. And while Hurley may object that this contact was not for the purpose of either Hurley's sexual arousal or gratification or the degradation or humiliation of the child, the complaint plainly alleges circumstances sufficient to infer sexual intent, which, of course, is how intent is nearly always determined. The allegations in the complaint that Hurley's regularly carried M.C.N. naked on his shoulders as a part of a "weighing" game would lead a reasonable person in Hurley's position to conclude that these incidents were among those that could be used to prove repeated sexual assault of the same child under Wis. Stat. § 948.025. *See State v. Blalock*, 150 Wis. 2d 688, 694, 442 N.W.2d 514 (Ct. App. 1989) ("Criminal complaints must be evaluated with a common sense, non-hypertechnical, reading.").

The State acknowledges that, at trial, the prosecutor focused primarily on the multiple alleged acts of digital penetration, and the State ultimately chose to have the jury instructed that the three or more sexual assaults under Wis. Stat. § 948.025 were acts of sexual intercourse contrary to Wis. Stat. § 948.02(1)(b) (63:75; 64:22, 42-43). However, the prosecutor also noted the allegations of sexual contact arising from the "weigh[ing]" incidents in his opening and closing arguments, and elicited testimony from M.C.N. about these incidents (63:77, 98-99; 64:24).

Regardless, Hurley's claim is that the *charging* documents failed to provide him with notice sufficient to meet the requirements of due process. The amended complaint itself does not specify whether the three or more incidents of assault were for sexual intercourse, sexual contact or both (4:1; CR-Ap. 101).⁴ It merely alleges that Hurley "did commit three or more violations of sec. 948.02(1) or (2)" (id.). Ultimately, how the prosecutor elected to try the case—focusing on the allegations of sexual intercourse and not the allegations of sexual contact that were in the complaint (and testified to at trial)—should not be relevant in assessing whether the charging documents provided Hurley notice adequate to prepare a defense. See R.A.R., 148 Wis. 2d at 410 n.1 ("We restrict our analysis to the charging documents. The validity of a complaint must stand or fall on its contents . . . '').

Thus, the amended complaint alleges at least 26 separate criminal acts that would count for purposes of the repeated sexual assault of the same child statute, Wis. Stat. § 948.025(1)(d). Given the large number of alleged assaults, the length of the alleged period of time was not

⁴ Neither does the information.

unreasonable in relation to the number of criminal acts alleged.

Even if this court were to determine that the allegations described above were in some way insufficient to allege 20 additional criminal acts under Wis. Stat. §§ 948.02(1)(e) and 948.025(1)(d), and that the amended complaint instead alleged six criminal acts, determination would not compel the conclusion that the complaint failed to provide adequate notice. remaining six alleged criminal acts committed in M.C.N.'s bed themselves represent a pattern of sexual abuse, three more than the discrete assaults alleged in R.A.R., requiring "a more flexible application of notice requirements." Fawcett, 145 Wis. 2d at 254. Additionally, Hurley was charged with the crime of repeated child sexual assault, which was created by the legislature to address problems inherent in prosecuting cases of pattern child sexual abuse, and criminalized the course of conduct *Nommensen*, 305 Wis. 2d 695, ¶ 15; *State v*. Johnson, 2001 WI 52, ¶¶ 15-16, 243 Wis. 2d 365, 627 N.W.2d 455. These considerations, as well as application of the Fawcett factors in their totality, must lead to the conclusion that the amended complaint satisfied due process requirements.

4. Factors five and six:
Duration of time
between
arrest/indictment and
the alleged criminal
acts.

The fifth and sixth factors address the passage of time between the alleged period for the crime and the defendant's arrest, and the duration between the date of the indictment and the alleged arrest. *Fawcett*, 145 Wis. 2d at 253. This court has essentially treated these factors as a single factor intended to address "the possibility that the defendant may not be able to

sufficiently recall" the allegations. *State v. Miller*, 2002 WI App 197, ¶ 35, 257 Wis. 2d 124, 650 N.W.2d 850.

In this case, five or six years passed between the alleged period for the crime and the filing of the first criminal complaint (1:1; 4:1; CR-Ap. 101). A delay of this length would appear to weigh in favor of Hurley's claim. *See R.A.R.*, 148 Wis. 2d at 412.

However, like many child victims, M.C.N. was assaulted by a family member, there were no other witnesses, and M.C.N. was afraid⁵—all "circumstances [that] serve to deter a child from coming forth immediately." *Fawcett*, 145 Wis. 2d at 249. As the court held in *R.A.R.*, a time interval of this duration is not, by itself, enough to render the complaint insufficiently definite. *See R.A.R.*, 148 Wis. 2d at 412 ("While the four-to-five-year intervals between the alleged offenses and R.A.R.'s arrest and when the complaint was filed do not alone render the charges insufficiently definite, those intervals in combination with other factors present weigh heavily in favor of that conclusion.").

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