STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT III

09-18-2013

RECEIVED

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

Appeal No. 2013 AP 558-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Appellant-Cross-Respondent

v.

JOEL HURLEY,

Defendant-Respondent-Cross-Appellant

APPEAL FROM AN ORDER VACATING A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION AND GRANTING A NEW TRIAL, AND ON CROSS-APPEAL FROM AN ORDER DENYING CERTAIN CLAIMS FOR POST-CONVICTION RELIEF, ENTERED IN THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR MARINETTE COUNTY, THE HONORABLE DAVID G. MIRON, PRESIDING

COMBINED BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-RESPONDENT-CROSS-APPELLANT

Attorney for Defendant-Respondent-Cross-Appellant

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

ARGUMENT

I. THE CIRCUIT COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION IN GRANTING HURLEY A NEW TRIAL

A. Standard of Review

The State sets out the standard for plain error in its brief, seeking a *de novo* review of the trial court's decision to grant Hurley a new trial. (App. Br. at 9-10). Hurley, however, did not seek reversal on this subject under plain error; rather, Hurley claimed that the prosecutor's improper closing argument required reversal in the interests of justice. (See, R.39:12-14; 43:3-4). More importantly, the trial court's decision granting a new trial was clearly under the rubric of the interests of justice.

A trial court's ruling on a postconviction motion for a new trial in the interest of justice is within its discretion. *State v. Williams*, 2006 WI App 212, ¶13, 296 Wis. 2d 834, 845, 723 N.W.2d 719, 725. (citation omitted). Thus, such a ruling is reviewed for an erroneous exercise of discretion. *Id.* A trial court properly exercises its discretion if it applies accepted legal standards to the facts in the record. *Id.*

The circuit court ruled that a new trial was required in this case because the prosecutor asked the jury in closing arguments to draw an inference that he knew was false. (R.66:70-73; RCA-App. 270-73). The circuit court reviewed *State v. Weiss*, analyzed the facts of this case under *Weiss*, and determined that Hurley deserved a new

trial. The circuit court's analysis was correct, was a proper exercise of its discretion, and the order granting a new trial must be affirmed.

B. The Trial Court Correctly Found That The Prosecutor Sought An Inference That He Knew Or Should Have Known Was False

The circuit court found that the prosecutor's comments were designed to have the jury draw the inference that Hurley was not denying that the sexual contact described by Goldsmith occurred, and that Hurley only could not recall whether he engaged in the sexual contact with his young sister. (R.66:59; 70; RCA-App. 259, 270). The circuit court further found that this inference was inaccurate and that the prosecutor knew that Hurley had previously denied Goldsmith's allegations when confronted. (Id.). These factual findings are not clearly erroneous.

The statement of the prosecutor that is it issue was as follows:

When the defendant testified, he was asked by his--by the attorney regarding Janell he said well, do you recall any of these incidents with Janell ever happening? And his answer was no. The question wasn't did you do this or not, it was do you recall? That's different than it didn't happen.

(R.64:25-26).

The State initially argues that the prosecutor's comment invited the jury to draw the inference that "Hurley was not asked by defense counsel whether he assaulted Janell (and Hurley did not volunteer a denial of Janell's allegations) because Hurley may have believed it was *possible* he had assaulted her, but could not *recall* doing so." (App. Br. at 12) (emphasis in original). This is not the inference that the trial court found the prosecutor sought; it is not the inference that Hurley argued was sought by the prosecutor; and, most importantly, the prosecutor himself did not claim to be seeking for the jury to draw this inference¹. Rather, the court was clearly convinced that the inference the prosecutor wanted drawn was that Hurley did not deny Goldsmith's allegations. (R.66:59; RCA-App. 259). That inference is, indeed, the only reasonable inference to have been intended considering the last phrase in the prosecutor's comment: "That's different than it didn't happen."

The court was also clearly, and correctly, convinced that the prosecutor knew that Hurley had denied Goldsmith's allegations previously, and therefore that the inference he was arguing was false. (R.66:59, 70; RCA-App. 259).

The State argues that it was improper for the trial court to conclude that the prosecutor knew that the inference was false. The State posits that that the Sheriff's report memorializing the fact that Hurley denied Goldsmith's allegations when she confronted him "did not tell the prosecutor how Hurley would have answered the question of whether he assaulted Janell had it been asked at trial." (App. Br. at 13). This is a frivolous argument.

First, the report stated in no uncertain terms that Hurley had denied Goldsmith's allegations when confronted: "Joel denied having any kind of inappropriate sexual contact with her." (R.39:15).

Second, the State argues that Hurley's denial to Goldsmith is merely a "second-hand account," apparently making it possible that Goldsmith somehow misconstrued Hurley's statement as a denial. (Id). This argument is wholly speculative and clearly unsupported by the clarity of the denials in the police report. Further, the prosecutor himself, under questioning from the circuit court at the post-conviction motion hearing, agreed that he knew that Hurley had denied the allegations and that these denials were in the discovery materials. (R.66:59; RCA-App. 259). The prosecutor did

¹ In fact, when questioned by the trial court during the hearing on Hurley's post-conviction motion, the prosecutor claimed that he was not asking the jury to draw any inference at all; rather, he was simply trying to highlight the weakness of Hurley's testimony. (R.66: 58-59; RCA-App. 258-59).

not say that he questioned the accuracy of Goldsmith's report about Hurley's denials.

The State also claims that Hurley's denials to Goldsmith do not mean that he would have denied it to investigators or at trial. (App. Br. at 13). The State reasons that because Hurley would have faced the threat of prosecution for providing untruthful answers in these scenarios, "Hurley may have responded differently to the question of whether he assaulted Janell *if the truth of the matter was simply that he could not recall having assaulted her* many years earlier." (Id.) (emphasis in original). Again, this is pure speculation by the State, since Hurley was never asked at trial whether he assaulted Janell. As the prosecutor pointed out in his improper remarks, the question by Hurley's lawyer was "do you recall?" not "did you do it?"

Interestingly, and damningly to the State's position here, the prosecutor did not ask Hurley whether he assaulted Janell either. The prosecutor had his opportunity to clarify Hurley's testimony about Goldsmith's allegations in his cross-examination by asking Hurley if he was denying them or whether he just couldn't remember if they happened or not. The prosecutor did not ask these questions, presumably because he knew through his own discovery materials that Hurley had denied it previously and would likely issue a flat denial on the stand again. By leaving Hurley's testimony alone, however, the prosecutor left himself the opportunity to argue the false inference during his summation.

The State also argues that Hurley would have other reasons to make a strong denial to Goldsmith, "such as to challenge Janell's own recollections and dissuade her from coming forward." (App. Br. at 13). Of course, Hurley would have even more compelling reasons to issue a strong denial to investigators or a jury—to avoid being convicted—rendering the State's argument in this regard unworthy of consideration. The State further claims that the information in the prosecutor's possession—that Hurley denied the allegations to Goldsmith—was "essentially provided to the jury." (App. Br. at 14). The information was not, in fact, provided to the jury. Goldsmith was asked by Hurley's lawyer whether Hurley "admit[ted]" to "d[oing] anything wrong," and she answered "No." (R.63:195). Goldsmith was not asked whether Hurley denied her claims. Even if one was to agree that this exchange put Hurley's denials before the jury, it is difficult to see how that would further the State's position now. The State is still left with the unmistakable fact the prosecutor asked the jury to infer that Hurley did not and/or could not deny Goldsmith's allegations, an inference that was false.

C. The Trial Court's Reliance on *State v. Weiss* Was Proper

The State claims this case is unlike *State v. Weiss*, 2008 WI App 72, 312 Wis. 2d 382, 752 N.W.2d 372, which the trial court relied upon in granting Hurley relief.

In *Weiss*, the defendant was charged with multiple counts of sexual assault of a child. The defendant testified at the trial and denied ever having sexual contact with the girl. In both closing and rebuttal closing, the prosecutor argued to the jury that it should not believe the defendant's denials because he made them for the first time at trial, and had not made them when he gave statements to police during the investigation. *Weiss*, 2008 WI App. at ¶¶ 5-7. The prosecutor made this argument despite the existence of two separate police reports stating that Weiss had denied ever having sexual contact with the girl when first interviewed by police during the investigation. *Id.* at ¶ 8.

The court of appeals reversed in the interests of justice, noting that the prosecutor's argument was not objected to. The court ruled that reversal was necessary because the case was largely a credibility battle, and the prosecutor's arguments were designed to undercut Weiss' credibility. "In working to discredit Weiss' testimony, the prosecutor struck a foul blow. The system of justice will be better off if Weiss is tried anew so that a new jury can assess credibility in a more candid light." *Id.* at 17. An important factor was that the prosecutor's comments came during closing argument, after the close of evidence, when Weiss could not present evidence to rebut the argument. The principles of *Weiss* are fully applicable here.

The State claims a factual distinction in that in this case, unlike in Weiss, the prosecutor did not comment on whether Hurley had previously denied the allegations to authorities or to anyone else. (App. Br. at 14). This is a distinction without a difference. The prosecutor here argued to the jury that Hurley did not deny Goldsmith's allegations, limiting his answer to only that he could not recall whether those events occurred. The prosecutor made this argument despite the existence of a police report in his possession stating that Hurley had denied having ever inappropriate sexual contact with Goldsmith. Contrary to the State's claim, and as recognized by the trial court, this case is exactly like Weiss.

The State also weakly attempts to distinguish *State v*. *Bvocik*, 2010 WI App 49, 324 Wis. 2d 352, 781 N.W.2d 719, by returning to its argument that the prosecutor in this case could not have invited the jury to draw an inference that he knew to be false.

In *Bvocik*, the defendant was charged with use of a computer to facilitate a child sex crime. The defendant had been chatting with a woman whose profile indicated an age of 28, but during chats the woman at times stated that she was 14. The trial record did not indicate the actual age of the woman. During closing argument, the prosecutor suggested that the defendant had reason to believe the woman was 14 because she claimed she was 14 and the birthday on her profile indicating she was 28, Valentine's Day, would have given the defendant a

reason to believe it was fake. The prosecutor knew, however, that the profile accurate and that the woman was 28.

The State highlights the fact from *Bvocik* that the prosecutor there knew the correct age of the woman, and contrasts it to this case by claiming, essentially, that the prosecutor in this case could not "know" that the inference he sought was false because the contents of the police report did not tell the prosecutor that Hurley would have denied Goldsmith's allegations at trial had he been asked. (App. Br. at 15).

This distinction is meritless. The circuit court in this case found that the prosecutor knew that Hurley had denied the allegations when confronted previously. The State does not deny that the prosecutor knew this. In addition, while the prosecutor in *Bvocik* was commenting on the trial evidence, he was inviting the jury to believe that the woman was actually a 14-year-old girl, which he knew to be false. Here, like in *Bvocik*, the prosecutor was commenting on the trial evidence-- Hurley's testimony--but inviting the jury to conclude that Hurley could not deny Goldsmith's allegations, which he knew to be false through police reports.

The prosecutor seized on inartful questioning by Hurley's lawyer to suggest that Hurley could not and did not deny Goldsmith's allegations, despite police reports that memorialized his denials. The prosecutor, whose obligation is to the system and to seek justice, could have asked Hurley to clarify whether he was denying the allegations or whether he only could not remember. Instead, the prosecutor saved a foul blow for closing argument, telling the jury to infer that Hurley did not deny Goldsmith's allegations at a time when Hurley could not rebut such an argument. The trial court here, and the court of appeals in *Weiss*, recognized the importance of the prosecutorial role and that a new trial is the appropriate remedy for such an impropriety.

D. The Trial Court's Order Was a Proper Exercise Of Discretion

The State lastly claims that even if the remark was improper, a new trial is not warranted in the interests of justice. In so doing, the State invites this Court to review the record and conduct essentially a de novo review of whether the interests of justice warrant a new trial. That is not this Court's role in such a situation. Rather, this Court must review a circuit court's grant of a new trial in the interests of justice for an abuse of discretion.

The circuit court here clearly did not abuse its discretion. The circuit court reviewed the law, particularly *State v*. *Weiss*, which is good law. The court heard testimony and argument on the motion, then took a break to re-read *Weiss*. The court returned to the bench and concluded that application of the facts of this case to *Weiss* resulted in Hurley deserving a new trial. The court explained itself in detail, highlighting the fact that this case was a "huge credibility case." The court identified several similarities to *Weiss*, and concluded that the same outcome was required. The circuit court properly exercised its discretion in granting Hurley a new trial in the interests of justice, and that decision must remain undisturbed by this Court.

CONCLUSION

For the reasons stated herein, the trial court's order granting Hurley a new trial in the interests of justice must be affirmed.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ISSUES PRESENTED17
ARGUMENT
I. The Complaint and Information Violated Hurley's Constitutional Due Process Rights to Notice and to Prepare a Defense
A. The Time Period Alleged in the Complaint and Information Was Unconstitutionally Broad17
B. The Deficiencies in the Complaint and Information Constitute Plain Error
C. Standards for Ineffective Assistance of Counsel
II. The Circuit Court Erroneously Admitted Other Acts Evidence
A. Facts
B. Standards26
C. The Circuit Court's Ruling Was Contrary to Controlling Precedent, Requiring Reversal27
D. Goldsmith's Testimony Was Not Probative of the Purposes Identified by the Circuit Court
E. The Admission of the Other Acts Evidence Was Not Harmless
III. The Prosecutor's Closing Argument ThatGoldsmith's Testimony Showed That HurleyWas "Opportunistic" Was Improper35

CONCLUSION	
FORM AND LENGTH CERTIFICATION	
APPENDIX	40

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

CASES

<i>State v. Barreau</i> , 2002 WI App 198, 257 Wis. 2d 203, 651 N.W.2d 12
Blenski v. State, 73 Wis. 2d 685, 245 N.W.2d 906 (1976)
<i>State v. Bvocik,</i> 2010 WI App 49, 324 Wis. 2d 352, 781 N.W.2d 71914-15
<i>State v. Davidson</i> , 2000 WI 91, 236 Wis. 2d 537, 613 N.W.2d 606
<i>State v. McGowan</i> , 2006 WI App 80, 291 Wis. 2d 212, 715 N.W.2d 63124, 26, 27-30, 33
State v. R.A.R., 148 Wis. 2d 408, 435 N.W.2d 315 (Ct. App. 1988)17-19, 21
<i>State v. Sanchez,</i> 201 Wis. 2d 219, 236, 548 N.W.2d 69 (1996)
<i>State v. Sonnenberg</i> , 117 Wis. 2d 159, 177, 344 N.W.2d 95 (1984)20
<i>State v. Sullivan,</i> 216 Wis. 2d 768, 780, 576 N.W.2d 30 (1998)
Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984) 20
State v. Weiss, 2008 WI App 72, 312 Wis. 2d 382, 752 N.W.2d 372

STATUTORY PROVISIONS

ADDITIONAL AUTHORITIES

Daniel D. Blinka, Wisconsin Evidence,	
3rd Ed. (2008)	33

CROSS-APPELLANT'S BRIEF

ISSUES PRESENTED

1. Did the charge against Hurley allege a sufficiently narrow and definite period of time to provide Hurley proper notice and permit him to prepare a defense?

The circuit court answered: Yes.

2. Did the circuit court err in admitting other acts evidence, where the other acts were significantly different in detail, and involved conduct from the defendant's childhood?

3. Is a new trial required where the prosecutor's closing argument asks the jury to use the other acts evidence to draw a propensity inference?